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,Jury empanelled and sworn. 

(Recess taken until two -thirty p 

The District. Attorney opens to the Jury. 

MR. WARE: If Your Sono r please, the defendant Rosner 

desirous of interrogating the witnesses himself. 

HE COURT: I will perm.t him to when the proper time 

SAMUEL BAIN, residing at 636 Bast 170th St., called on be 

of the People being first duly testified as follows: 

DIRECT .EXANINCION BY Ma MARIZEW104.: 

MR. WARE: I ask that all witnesses be 'X(11114449 



TH OCKIR 43.1 witnesses will be excluded froti 

the Court rooms on both aides. 

• Mt:405mm /mem the room.. 

Mr. Bain What is your business? A My business 

fa.cturing. 

Where La your place of business? A 111 Illeeeker St. 

Did vbrother of yours .have, a place of business at • 

219. /Toostei St. 219 Wooster St. he was: in the hes i 

Was :he in business there? A Yes, sir. 

-"Where was he. the hospital. 

What hospital? A Sitydenham Hospital. 

Who took Charge of your brother place of business? 

d 
id•

 

-

4:1 You did? A Yes, sir. 

'What is your brother full name? Louis. 

want you to talk up loud so these gentlemen over. here, this 

,last gentleman can hear you. What is -your place of business, /144t. 

is the sort of business he does?. A Woolen business. -

Q What part of the building was the place of business Situ-

ated i Ground, a gzound stow.. 

Double store? A Single store. 

One large plate glass window? es. 

Q- What time on that, day were yOu at that store? WAS 

there about half past nine, in the morning. 

Were ou in the store? I was in the store._ 

What time did you leave the store .AboUt tenor .fifteen 

c-



lirates 

Q What 414 you do When.you left the store? A Locked:* 

ra. with a patent lock, andrhung up a lock on the outside 

You put a padlock on the  door? A The 3e. is two looks 

one a. patent lock and one a heavy lock- outside ,a padlock. 

You put both locks on?  A I put both locks on. 

And you. locked the store?' A And I ,went .to my place o 

-business.: 

• Anithen you went to your place of business/ A yes 

What tithe did you re turn to your brother's lace of • busi-

ness?A A neighbor 4f mine came. 

• Q Never mind that, at time di d you return? A About two 

Or half past two. 

When you came to your brother's store,what did you find, 

find the door was smashed in or is opened with a jimmy. 

Well tell us ho A By a jimmy. 

Viliat did you find. A I find a piece of the door broken 

..out,ard the :door was open and -somethings was missing, I didn't 

know how MI10 Ii .eXite t 3.y. 

ct Are you able to i'dentify' the goads in your brother store 

that morning A • Yes, sir. 

Q, Now come down here please and look at these and tell us if 

-you..identif he (Eak:biting a roll of goods.) A (Witness 

examinigg same) Yes, I saw these goods the day pxevious in._the Store 

OU SAW these goods in your brother's store? A Yea1 air. 

The day previous? Yes sir. 



And the sunning when you locked the store were the 

goods in the store? A The goods were there in the store. 

ict And when you returned at about two o'clock that afternoon, 

were tbe goods in the etore? A No, it was not i.t was lying 

on the case, an d all the goods from the case had disappeared. 

It had disappeared? 

MR. MARKEWICIi: I just offer part of it in evidence, only 

We object if Your Honor please 

THE COURT: You may mark- them for intifi.cation for the 

resent. -

marked People s.Exhibit 1 foridentification.) 

Q Was the is anybody in your brother's store when you came 

back? A When came back nobody in them. 

CROSS EXAMIITATION BY IR. WARE: 

Q What day of . the week was this? 

Are you employed in your brother' 

brotherQ Ho* did you happen to be there?- A My.  Went t 

the. ho- epi.tal the. 30th. of •Noveitiber'.f or an operation and the next, 

so he gives me the.. keys, he had to, receive some goods of 

bbing.house from the railroad 'I take it in, behad thekeys 

an d.'he gave them to me, af,nd the truckMan brought. the goods up and 

waett:the door and .1 had the trickman brought in. tb0.-.04304in the. -

bail's and. I loCked up !th.-.6` door .of 

What: day was  that? A Saturday, the ea day. 



ANIP 

.8100 doe -A Se day ho-went from - hate to 

hospital,that Was on a Saturday.: 

Was not  his business carried  on -by anybody? 

The :store was shut up? A. It was shit. 

Wh - had you been in there before that Saturday? A . 0 

over there every susy in. the week. 

. Q. You tre not in partnership with your brother A No, but 

am visiting him just the same. 

Q In his at° n his store. 

Eaten t :you anis,:businesa of. .y..01= ow? A Yes. 

And Where lB. your business? A • ill..-Bieec4ev 8t., just 

:around the - c orner from ..hi a store 

A Wh* is the store? A Manufacturing pants.*  

Pan Yes,, sir. 

Do- you come around .and see_ your brother every day? 'A Yes. 

Q Howlong had that been going A Ever ' since he'is 

there t is 4 couple of years. 

tv go and see- your brother every day? A 'Almost every da 

Does he come to see yo A Y 'sure. 

Your: brother only occupies the store? A The ste±e!.. 

Q How deep is that? A. How deep? 

Yes. A. I should say it is about $0 feet. 

And how about, about how large. a stook does he oar 

0 

Weil it ls accordingly, sometimes he carries five thousand, 

times ten thousand, axietins a few hundred  just the may he se 

the stook varies. 

r 
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s a jobber in woolens. 

Q And what 1 a the is about this bundle of cloth that -enable 

you to i dent ify thi a as b eing the earn e o loth that you saw in your 

brother's place the day hero re , what About 

Q - There are thousands of other bundles just like this, 

aren't there in New York? 

And your attention was not called particularly to thi 

Q You just looked over the whole stock?A It was 3us 

goode that was lying on the case, right near the door. 

Q About this, I suppose his was lying right against the 

door, wasn't 1t9(Indicating) A No, not against the .door, but 

on the .case, piled up. 

Hpwmany Other piles of goods was- there .similar in there? 

There were a numbe r of goods there. 

Q, Was there any zrark on these bundles of  cloth that enablers 

you, to say that this Property belongs to your brother? A he 

tickets on it. 

sn t there 

Over he 

What. does this ticket d ticket correeponds--- 

ith the bill he has for I t. 

Q How do you know he has got t2 bill. for At?, looks 



4 Were is it? A In his place of bUsineisli. 

You an to pay that you looked in the. books to eeó 

ether. the entries corresponded with this That is t 

goods, yea. 

You made. a memorandum then in your own book was i t, that 

• you could c cmpare that with your brother's books, A After It 

was I came o the station house, I see- these goOds-; and then 

there was missing so much, so I took the bins whatever 

• he had there, only to icbntify the goods, that that is the -.lumbers 

of the goods. 

Where did. you take the bills?. A In his file. 

And you didn't his bundle of cloth with you, . did 

t was in the .station house. 

.You di ch t -take this bill withy 

You made .a note of it on some paper' A Yes, and it 

corresponds with w the bale.: 

..Where was  this goods, do you know, in the 'station house? 

.As ..soon - saw. the. goods, all right, I saw all of the bills ° tool' 

had the bills, I didn't need to note 

• Have you the bibls? You. had the bills what did 14911 do 

The bills  are in the store. 

Who put then in the store? A I put them bactik!:X didn't 

Tou brought tiviy 1.1s • tO thastatiOn 1,1oUse? 
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are the numbers in.the station hound, I find the numbers and I 

went the  Store too, I looked up the bills, to know how much 

there' Was and  I saw the nava numbers corresponding. 

Q The goods that')vrere in the station hciuse?.-A Yes, sir. 

And the bills were in the store? A Yes, sir. 

How did you know the ntimbers gin these tags corresponded 

to the numbers on the bills in the store? A As I told you 

saw the ta in the station house. 

Then how can. .yo. 11,4sre.tarried it in your memory from thC-

station house to the store? Yes, sir, Only about two blocks, 

I ,can remember that ,much. 

Q Then if you can remember thEt much, can't you tell me about 

what' those numbers were now? A Now, it is three months back, 

can not remember. 

How many numbers wd-re there on these tags? A There was 

there three numbers, file number and the piece number and the 

• number of the goods, that is usually on goods, on. the  ticket, 

the piece goods. 

And you do not p ietend to pay you kn ex- any, of these 

numbers, you ,did not know anything about that, did you. 

didn't know only as I look at the bill. 

Was there only two of them. or four of them or three of the 

or five of them, that is the figures on the number, where it, is 

marked et; 1.e, or where it .113 printed the word style,can ,you tell 

me' the number of those, was it one, two, three,*four .or :five f 

can't recollect now.. 

Vre 

riii 



Don't know whether it wits 

I Cold you I didn't know. 

And the same thing in regard to the other piece, you 

don't remember anything about 'that, do you? A Not now. 

Q Do you know whethe the otherpiece was marked, the .cos 

style number azd the numbe r of yards,-.-do___34tou- remember 

whether* they were all filled- out? A 1 can not remember now, 

but I kieda few bills about two .or three bills, and they..corres-

ponded with the numbers on the pieces. - 

But the bills were at the store? The bills were at 

-the store. 

The n how did you knows. i"f the bills were at the store, 

that the numbers corresponded to those figzres in the, station 

house? A Well I looked first in the station house. 

into the station house and I saw- the numbe ra, and then I went 

back into the store and I get the bills thinking they would probably 

ask me to show the bills for it, sd had the bills with me, 

mean to say you'carried all these bills 

From th0 station house to the :store? 

;You 4084, you carried all these numbers in your beady 

can not., remember all: of them. .There .was about 'sixteen 

:140001c, I could not remember nil of them, but a..feW- of Vaem* 



away from the station house. 

Yet you carried it in your head, ie that the idea? 

As I say not all of them 

Ho do you know that these are two of 

sixteen pieces? A This they left, his larger piece:, and 

took all of the other pieces back, that is thirteen,piecep.bao 

but  these. 

Why din .t -you: take this one? A They wanted 

evidence, t ey•would not give 

Q As fft matter of fact you don't know who broke into your 

don't know who b zoke in. 

witness. Called -on behalf of the People, 

being fi psi duly sworn, testified .as 

Officer, how long are you attached to te Police ,Force of 

this City? .Nine years. 

-On the first day of December, 1917 were you In .the vieinit 

of Wooster St. this County? A At tlat time I Was attached to 

the  Sixteenth Precinct as a critic) prevention officer. Wooete.r 

is in the *boundaries cif- the, precinct. 

Were you at the.building premises 217 Wooster St. on that 



day? A A.bout two P • 

Yea. A Officer 

THE COURT: The question is were you near these premise 

yes or no? 

THE WI MSS : Sure. 

And what did you observe when you got to the premises 

217 -Wooster St.? A 219 Wooster St. 

Well at 219 Wooster St..'01, e rve d that 

about the center of the door, which was open and broke badly, that 

there was a break about that long (Indicating); ten inches an 

could plainly -be seen from- the opposite side of the street. 

Did you notice whether 

could notice from the opposite. side of the street where I was 

standing was this break. 

Did you notice whether this lock was on or off? A Padloci 

Noticed the pe.dlock was off? 

You say that you saw that from across the street? A Indi 

went Into the premise 218 on the 

;trot floOr, which im.oCcupied as a sponging store, where they 

sponge and shrink goods. I went in :there aixd atm ci :Watching over 

aerciss the street to No 219 kept watch of the number from the 

opposite side of the street. 

long did you remain there 

altogether. 

. Was Officer HOerr, along with 
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' A oyor 

.When did he arrive if at. alit A Be .arrived about 

wo or three minutes later. 

‘Q; ' 
up. 

What -did he do? A As he was passin ooster St.. I 

apPed on the window, and he came into the premises. 

And he remained at that time across the street with y 

He did. 

Did you at any time after you arrived across the strop 

see the defendants? A I -saw the defendant Frankel walking Bout 

on Wooster St with two unknywn othe r men • one who had a derby hat 

and the other had a „velour hat. As they came in front of 219-

two men stopped, Frankel went over and I saw he shaded his eyes 

and looked Into the store, into the window. 

Q. :Whet' Mitre, 219 Woodte'r -St.. A 219 Wooster St yes,. 

s r an d he came back and joined .the two men who stood on  the s.1 

Walk: One of the men walked south and one of them, the one with 

he velour hat ,we  south, and the one with the derbk ha 

walked north. 

Q Then tell, us what happened? A Twit afte r that happen-

ed Officer Hoerr came along and came into the .premises. We  stood 

watchjng for about three minutes after and Frankel came down on 

the same side 219 side. At that time there had been a rack 'truck 

,a rack truck that- drew down n front of the promisee, between the 

time Frankel left the an d th e o ther two men were there Frankel. 

walked down .on the eidewe.lk and took hold of th,e ,head of the hOrees 

Of 'Vile little truck ard pulled it out about twenty feet pouth.' 

.South of *hit South of the number 219.: Then Rosner 
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drove along in a Colored Wagon red covered wagon with a Z on the  

side in a circle. - They got in front of the door. Rosener got 

down off the wagon. 

Q You are talking of the d r n front of what? A 219 Woos-

ter St., outside the store. When they got in front of this store 

osner came down off the, Wagon Walked to the back of the wagon and. 

opened up the tail board, while Frankel went in, went to the doOr, 

•-pushed the door open and went inside and came out with. th.xee piece 

of goods on hi shoulder. 

Q. Ins de of 219 W6oster St.? A Inside of 219 Wooster 

Frankel -you saw cane out with three Pieces of goods. 

Yes, sir. 

Q Then tell us what took place? A As he placed the three 

good. into the wagon Rosner went in and cage out, and when he 

came out he had three or four pieces, am not stre, because 
• 

were smaller pieces and. I • c culd not say how many there were, an 

Put them in the wagon. As he put them in the made 

another trip back and Came out with more goods on hii3 shoulder an 

'placed them in the wagon.. Wien he was placing them in the wagon 

Rosner went back for a second time. Then Rosner came back the second 

time and as he came back to the wagon he then climbed into the 

wagon an d as Frankel was c aping out with the third load of. goods, 

-Offic(r.Hoerr and I went across the street. 

Did you place both *defendant's under arrest? A Rosner was 

4:the wagon putting the gooda evidently putting the goodw- around, 



they..had been. thrcn in the wagon and he was arranging thou, 

room, Be Was in the .cagon.,..an..d.:; covered..4im;wir.th. 

ireYolvcrAnd,lrigankel was toting Out With three p1 eats.Of 

$0040- on his shoulder and when ,he saw me covering Roarier be Aro 

the goods but .Officer Hoerr grabbed him. 

MR. WARE: Might I ak--what those 'last few words were that 

you .Said?, 

RE•WITITESS: Offi Ce r Hoerr grabbed him. 

Q . What did you do with the wagons and  the :goods?: 

in the ;commotion a man on horseback, 'a traffic man came. up: and 

we  put:1i m in- back:- of the wagon and 'we ',took the two defendant's 

back of.the store, we thought we might be able to find 

You took them back to the store A Back to the, store 

o look .around the store, we thought there might be somebody hid 

n there. 

MR. WARE: I object to that. 

.Never mind what you thought. 

WARE: I move to strike out what he thought. 

THE COURT: Motion granted. 

You took the two defenchnta back into the store, that 

into 219. Wooster St; . A Then we examined the. door, gave it 

a closer earamination, of the door and of the 'place a closer 

examination. 

Tell us what condition you found Us door in? A .Tuat 

t the centre .of the -door, whole the look would be there was -41 



leek both wss, it was looked with a padlock afterwards 

;•at that place there was ten inches of the door,:br0ken,,,a. 

tOlc011  Out:, we looked at. that, and.--looked:.inelde.andjOOke, 

around .and looked in the back of the store and then brought 

.-them out left an officer in Charge of the store and brought 

.the two: .of them, the two defen (Unto , to: the station house. 

. At the station house.did you have a conversation •with 

;dither Of the defendantS: A I had a converiVi4ion.W011- 410101er, 

on the way..over there.. 

What di d you say to him or -What . did  Boone* say to 

I said, ”Pretty good job Rosner “liellist he Said:; was 

i.r4g to get out of it was fifty bucks. 

DEFENDANT ROSNER:. Your Honor that is a lie, I never said 

that at all. 

TI COURT: Keep quiet now, the witness is testifying on 

the stand don't You say anything. 

. iDid you have any further talk with ' Rosner? A Not with 

Rosner. 

• lad. you  have any ta  lk with Frankel? A No, my partner. had, • 

Nolti show you. 

MR. WARE: Now I object.- to that .8tateSent that his partner- did. 

HE COU:RT: It may .1 tan d only if • he heard.-it. DS. you hear..-  

' the conversation? 

helb,ra.the. end of it Your 40.09*, 

•int.E..couRT,-. You  04z,tell *1* .you. tefirds,. 

Well, on the Way over to the station house my partner had 

I. 

CfjiT 7 - 



talk with Prankel, just exactly shat that was I don't '•3Cnair; bt 

s'141012 t Off got into the station house he said, "Where is the 

Frankel said. "You will find it either on top of the :case or.: 

behind the case in the store. .And Officer 'Hoerr left the .station 

house went down to the store and returned inabout five minutes with. 

the jimmiethat we hhve..here as evidence. 

this the Jimmie? (Handing same to Witness) A Yes, 

-that 

MARICEWICHz I offer it in evidence.. 

RE ,ocuR Received. 

Same received :in evidence: an Marked:People s lahibit 

, -Officer, I elzw you. these two Pieces- of goode marked 

People's Exhibit 1 for identification and I ask you if those two 

pieces were part Of the goods- that you saw the defendants take .out 

of the store at 219 Wooster St. and put upon a wagon' A May 

• look. at th 

Q Yes, come rLght down here. A (Witness does:. s 

• Yes, :these are two of the Pieces; and this particular piece, these 

.particular pieces are some% f the' pieces he :took hat is one 

Of the pieces of goods' that Frankel 'had On his .shoulder on the 

last trip out. • 

MARKEWICH: ow I offer them in evidence if Your Honor -

lease . 

(Marked- in evidence asPeople's Exhibit No. 1 

SS ECAENATION BY MR WARE: 

Officer, what wee it tkrit first attracted your attention 



lt 
to this plant at 219 Wooster St A A telephone oval that 

Officer Noeri got _fro* the telephone. 

And about what time of .day was that? A Well about 

two o'clock. 

little before. 

What did_ypu do in -consequence? A. '33 th of tlafil -left ;the 

station house 

And did.you •both go •to the piami sea" A I went to the 

stoner of Third 'St and Mercer, and turned- West.. On' Mercer St. until% 

I came to IrooSter St., and then" went .south on Wooster St. Officer 

Roerr left me On the .corner of 'Mercer and.: Third. 

„understand that as you looked acros-a the street 

• I. had .to pass :that place... 

. You were on the opposite side•  of ,the -street? 

was standing there. 

•

 

Was . there any.body.. in si&lt at that. time? Allybody in Sight' - 

Yea. A People Passing up and down:. 

We.re there other .stores •alongside, both 

•

 

avenue there that were open? A Well the store next to it 11am 

pretty sure was closed.  It is *a tenement house, this store two 

stores, both in the ,sage. :.business. 

You say there was: a truck in front. Of t),7; .p*ce? A Not 

at the first time, that  true]; drew there. 3,*ter, t was not 

truck, it Was a rack youCad not -Call a truck,.it was 
.s... . . 



"04 ....~geria~ 

4 Did you notice that partiOular3Y?, A / noticed it St 

course because it pulled up there alkd stopped, my view I had 

to ohxge my place where I was standing to keep the door so I 

could see it. 

How many men were in that t op A One truciman. 

One driver? A Yes, s 

Horse I presume; one horse? A Two horses. 

And did you Pay any attention to the wagon at all? 

A You knew I knew it was a paper box wagon I knew paper bo 

eoplo were in that neighborhood, working in that net 1:J.0/toxic 

7.94.,140" that would not A- .And .I also knew that. 

they Would not have -alything to .do With the Othe r people in a. 

Wagon of that. kind,. they would have .a closed 'wagon. 

A closed wagon A This was an open .rack -wagon.• 

A truck? sir, a rack wagon. 

understand you to say that you could see across the 

way and see that the padlock had been broken off? A I knew 

that premises pretty well have been patrolling in that neigh-. 

borhood, I know there is a padlock on that door. 

q u did know that did you. A Yes, sir. 

So you now all about the store before you .go there? 

ow that neighborhood thoroughly, I have been nine year 

in that neighborhood. 

Didn't I understand you to say that you saw that- the door 

-was crackedl A I saw the crack about ten inches long, 

visible from the otbe r side of/ the street. 



1, 
Visible to anybody that went .Up and down the sidewalk? 

-Anybody could see that, you could .see -it at that timea. 

'block away. 

Q But nobody paid any attention to it, did they, although 

the padlock was broken off and. the door was cracked? A .Nobody 

" paid- any attention. 

Q, And nobody stopped and looked at it? You did see:, 

:anybody going in and out of those Piemises?' --A / did not 

until the defendants Frankel and Rosner went in and out. 

-Then you *en When you first ,saw this door,borkew 

and the padlockbr oken off gou were alone? A I was alone. 

And Officer Hoerr was .not in the neighborhood-. A Officer 

Hoe rr was proceeding to the place St -what route he took I 

didn't know. then, I know now. 

You didn't see hi Not then. 

You did. see Win in two or three minutes?A Yes. 

And he was looking in the same * direc.tion? A In the -

same direction. 

Q -Why didn't you go over there Officer, to see if there 

was anybody inside? A I wanted to wait and see if .anybody 

as coining out, f anybody could come: out, nobody could. go out, 

either kn or Out Or I would see them. 

q If .anybody went. in you would have been able have 

*got hold.- of the*, 'wouldn't you? .A .We ,thought We would wait 

whi 3.. e an 4 aWai.t :deVelopMents 



You did not arrest Frankel did yo 

Were you. present when he was arrested? A i•Wá8coèr 

Rosner on the wagon was right close by. 

Q Officer, were you within a block an d a half- or Prankel 

when he was arrested by Hoerr? A I could not have been maze 

than five feet away.from 

And that isright near the piemises 2l9 A He dropped. 

the stuff and started to run, di.dalt get far away. 

Of 6sOurse you t know who actually broke open these 

premises, did you? A 

Right oppoai te 

Where. was the driver? A He was in or about doing 

business, getting ready. for a shipment I guess. 

Was he on that wagon? A nobody on tlie Wagon. 

Whatart of a .weirgon was -it? A A raok I said., 

What st4re w he in, do you Icnovi,he waa in arystoze 



Thin 111 a paltee flext d0Or that stakes per bens 

there is two Or three different stores, I guess he was up 

st&pment, I don t know where he was. 

Not on the wagon? A Nobody on the -wagon. 

You:say .you saw Rosner coming along? 

along and drove up to the curb. 

Did you know anything about Rosner! 

'know ahytbing about his business? 

A I kno,w what he told sie. 

What sort f a wagon was that? A It was one of old-

Ziegle r s Frankfurtera big Z on the side surrounde 

by stars in a circle. 

A. covered. wagon? ..A covered wagon shed wagon. 

Anybody in it besides_ Frankel? 

Q You could have heard anything that 

couldinside, .1  not. hear. 

You were behind something? 

looking out. 

You could see what you have 

hear anything that was said? 

Q So you don' t 'know what was sal d' 



us about the arrest of Frankel, .being right there at the premises? 

Positive 

Q On the sidewalk? A On the Si cbwalk near the truck and 

the goods, I had two  thing's to pay attention to, Rosner and the 

wagon to pay attention to, and there wee threepieces of goods on 

Didn't you know where he was arrested whether it was o 

the sidewaak A He was arrested right beck of me. 

Bow far behind your back was that? A That I could not 

Q Could ithave been a block away, a block behind your back? 

I don' t think it was more than five or ten feet he was 

behind me .from the time it took lum, he could not have been more 

saw Frankel make- the first trip into the store 

first trip., yes, sir. 

-.The door was closed together 

saw him open it? A I saw him push It open and then 

And then the 'door was opened and closed as they went and 

Q H58,: 'the. Sergeant any pnavious acquaintance with either of 

the de fen dan ta A I ne vex_s aw them, I never heard, of 



- . 

BY THE- DEPENDANT ROSNER: 

ay' you -seen .a crack in the door when you passed 

about ten inches long? A About ten inches. 

You waited a few minutes and you seen three men-, go alon 

three men yes, I saw them with Frankel. 

4 And the her two menvent whitre9 A One went _south a 

one went north. 

And the other two did not look anything 

either one of the two? A You were not one of .the two that 

came down the fi Tit time, no. 

4 After those three men went away how long did it take 

before I came back wi th Franke l? t comeback with 

Frankel Frankel was on the sidewalk. .-You were driving the wagon 
- 

close to  the curb, n about two or- three minutes after. 

Well you said three men walked aways did you note 

4 One vialke d--eouth and one A North and then Frankel 

-.came. back again a oath. 

'Then they separated? A .Undoubtedly, 

watching both corners. 

was not Lanywhere di ch' t notice you.. 

• Q You are positive of th cln•t see you you ma 

ave been there but I .01 dn't .see you around.. 

And after they separated did it take before 

.ame along with my wagon? A About three minutes. 

That. is A A few minutes. 



?! .1* • ; 

-1.4:k0011.-Atrad.CaMe.11.0_7an'.d °Petted: tI tail. of the Wagon. 

Q And then walked into the  Store and carried out  the. 

goods? A No, 2rankeI went in ...first. 

walked in no you did not, 

:.Frankel ceMe out with the stuff in .his arms theri..you Went 

And are  you. sure _I •.did not :walk In With hi 

told : you, I testill.ed-: that you did not walk in With 

.record• is there .(Pointing) an•4 that wilLl show it. 

When you were waiting here and  had us under observation for 

a few minutes and as you say we carried that we made -about 

three' trips, and, you came iunning towards the wagon, did I make 

any attempt t You could not, you was in there 

with the pieces of goods and I got you covered with my gun. The 

front of. the, wagon was closed and I 

of the back with my gun. - 

I didn't make any attempt 

Absolutely none. 

covered you- óm coming' 

o get away, did, I? 

that I was ,going to be .paid 

You are not, mistaken about that, are 

.absolutely. 

ow isn't it a fact that you asked. "me in the store 

u placed me under arres 



cars to you that .Z was hired to do the trucking'? 

told se you were .hired to do the trucking you were going 

,get $50. for doing the j 

Q You asked me Who hired you" 

with a bluehat? A Some. unknown man. 

The fellow with the velour hat; th5 fellow you 

walking away from the place, - and I sal d to you 

promised $50. You sal d you were going to'ge 

taking and trucking 

to .take it and you sal d to a. stable on Willard 

DEPENDANT FRANKE to ask some questions. 

THE COURT: If you want any questions. put- to the 

BY 1SR. WARE: 

Officer Hoerr was the only other officer in tbis ease? 

he traffic man drove up and 

on- the 5J. cbwalk. 

And Officer Hoerr knew you were going to be there? 

don't think he did because he was walking,right by the pitsoe 



ver to 219 and I tapped on the windoW 

before or after this man with the velour hat 

• Officer, just tell us how you happened to have 

how you happened to go to the store and how Officer Hoerr halipene 

to be passing on the- sidewalk" A The both left the station 

house together, tIboth of us with the same intention, of going 

down to 219 Wooster St., but took opposite -directions knowiing 

well that 219 Wooster St. was situated about the centre of the 

block. We wanted to come in towards it from both ends 

down through Third St. and Officer Hoerr, the last I saw of him 

was going down through Mercer, afterwards he went through Bleecker 

and up Wooster. 

q,

 

And. he passed the window in Which you were stopping? 

And you. tapped on the _glass? 

And that attrac,ted his attention? 

clothes. 

3oth Other and have for years. 

At the time that you saw thead three men as you 110 

you were alone? A I was alone 

And I maim that that y iou. didn't -try to make a 



=este at that ti wanted to see ecmething develop 

before 1 made an arrest. 

REDIRECT itceiaisTATIox.37. MR. MARELMICR: 

A telephone message -was received at the station house 

and received by Officer Hoerr? 

MR. WAME: I object to that. 

HE. COURT: I overrule the objection. He can not say. what 

telephone Message was received you and Officer - 

Hoerr left' A Started, and left the station house. 

RiOLPiNosmi a witness Called on.behalf-of the People, 

being first duly sworn testified as follows: 

.DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MARKEWICH: 

Ho* long are you connected with the Police Department of 

the City of New York? 

On the -first day of December, 1917 at, about tit) 

were you opposite 219 Wooster St.?, 

Was Officer Boland in your company? A Yes, air. 

What didyiOu do together with Officer 13 land? 

,the premises 219 Wooster' St. looking across in premises 211 

and 218 Wooster St. looking Over t.warde 23,9 Wooster Ste 

What kind Of a -place :of business is 219 Wooster St.? 

to*,- ocoOpied.•.b .4 woolen concern, - woolens. 

iow longhave youi, remained at 216  and 218 watching premises 



- 

About fifteen minutes. 

What 41d .younsee as you. watched.. A I seen a large big 

double truck wagon pull up in fronts of premises 219 .Wooater S 

1 saw Defendani. Frankel walk down on 'Wooster St., on the .west side 

of Wooster St. d 1 saw Defen dant Rosner on the. wagon. Defendant 

Frankel pulled this large double -truck wagon down about a door, 

that is approximately 20 or 25 feet south,fon Wooster St. 

South of it? A South of the premises in question. 

219 Wooster St ? A Yes, sir. 

Q Yes go on. A And Defendant Rosner pulled up, and 

umped from .his wagon and put the tail board down' of the wagon which 

he drove south on Wooster St. Defendant Frankel went into the 

premises, opened the doors, they were closed. 

Closed but not looked? A Closed but not locked. He 

went in and started to carry-out goods, three rotas of woolens on 

his shoulder. Then afte r Defendant Frankel came out with thee 

rolls of goods why Defendant Rosner goes in and started carrying 

out but there was always one of them on the wagon while, the other 

was carrying it out. 

Well at any rate what did. you do when .you saw the defen-

dant carrying the roils of cloth? A Waited for my chance to 

run across and place Defendant Frankel under arrest. 

Q What was the defendant Frankel doing? A At the time 

he was -carrying out woolens, he had three rolls of cloth on his 

shOul/der when he dumped them on the street just .00ming-out with 

the threi and as I said he dumped the three on *leis rest, an 
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the -defendant Rosner was in the wagon 

lOu do with.the Defendant.Pranke 'after on put 

him 'under arrest? A Zook him into the store. 

-Row. didityou find the door, what did you obse.rve as to the 

condition of . the. door? A The -thior ,was broken. 

.Q In what way? A 'A large, a big piece was taken out 

of the door about a foot long I should judge, about two or three 

Inches wide, sort of chipped out., or jimmied' out or broken. out.:, 

Q Did yiou notice the condition of the lock, if an lock. 

was on the door? A Yes, sir, broken.' 

Q How long did you keep the defendants in the store?' 

About two minutes I should judg4. 

Then what'did you d Proceeded to the station 

house. 

• -Q On the way 

sation with Frankel?' 

be station h us e di d you have any onve r-

I di d. 

What did the defendant Frankei say to you if anything? 

-asked Frankel how • he got in the place and he said, -"You know 

o* Igot in the.door . I Said, 'No, I don't". I said, 

'Mho j iinnied that door He said, jimmied that 'door. 

said, ',What. didnyou do with 'your jimmy'"He said, he refused 

• to finewetr•„ didn'tanswer • anything. While at  the station house in 

front of . the desk I asked 'Frankel- again what he had  done • with • 

theij 1 

.YB, WARE: I object to that as not responsive. I :1.1.001no 

heard any  question about the station house,. 



g Till us what it was. A In front of the desk t 

Precinc t Station House I again asked the Defendant Frankel 

where was the jimmy that he jimmfiied the door with and he said "You 

will find it. either on .the case or right 

came back ,and found it down behind the case. 

Did you go back to the store?. 

After the defendants .were safely in custody? A Yes. 

Q And look at People's Exhibit 2 in evidence., the ji.mmy 

on the. table, an a tell me if that 1s the jimmy that you found? 

Q An d,tell us where? A. I proceeded to premises 219 

Wooster St and I _looked .on the case and found no j 

behind the case and found that jimmy- on the floor._ 

Q Can you state from your recollection how many pieces 

fifteen p1eceè going.on the wagon ± seen twelve pieces going• 

on the wagon and Defendant Frankel had three pieces on his shoulder 

when I laced him under arrest. 

Look at these two pieces marked People Exhibit I in 

-evidence .and tell me if those two are part of tbs fifteen pieces 

that you .saw the defendant carrying out of the. store Stag down 

ere and examine them. (Witness does ES Yes air.  

cRocyx .EXAIONATIo1_11,. PUBS: - 
ed 

Officer, you look/at this tag, xhat did you do that f 



A. Looked t the ntitbereo-

What are. the -numbers? / looked at the nulibexe 

there,. I had a faint recollection of the numbers, I hat them 

in my memorandum book but at the plesent time I can not find 

my .memorandum: 

Isn'tQ.  it 'a part of' your duty to keep and carry a 

memorandum? It is. 

Particularly when a Case 18 on trial. A Yes, sir: 

What has become of your memorandum book? 

You lost it? A Yes. 

When did that happen? A At least I can not find: 

When 'did you first lose it Or miss it rather. A Why 

today, thi a morning, I had it right up to the pzeaent time. 

You have got a faint recollection of these numbers? 

Yes, air. 

looked 'at? Four sets of numbers . 

Tell =some faint recollection that you have got of 

e numbers? A 55 and a fraction on that roll, that 

one number, the number on the bottom. 

GI Well Oust now you looked at those figures What is 

-tbe number on that other rol1 A There is three numbers .on. 

gave you any recollect:ton of 'them)! ,A There i6 a fifth 

umber, 0 as 10,000 and tome more on 

Q. And iftlese ae the numbers that you put jl your noto book? 



Yes sir. 

Did you put al; a the numbers in the note book tbM 

were Yes, sir. 

•Q And these are two roll's that you picked out for exhIbitio 

purposes? 

Q So that you naturally tried. to memorize these?. A Yes. 

Q And u di t really need your notebook? A !Tot 

- necessarily, but _I have not got the correct numbers stating the 

five nuntbers of •them. 

Y THE COURT: 

What was done with thi s cloth after 'the defendants were 

-arraigned? A It Was dent to the property clerk Your, Honor. 

How did they g tit down here 

we brought down. 

Whom do you mean by 

--Boland and I. 

You brogght, them this 

Prom the property clerk? 

Deposi ted them there unde r the 

BY MI WAVE: 

'Prom the: pre rty• clerk with the assistance of Officer 

..BOlaild, We both 41 :us brought it. 

Is thee anything about this jtioular roll that you-

nOticed tba:t morni A. Oh yes. 

rather .that ar terno0n4 A 1o, nothing 



of the bundles or rolls which you took A Yes, 

Did you notice who carried this? A No sir. 

You di dn' t know when this was carrie A No r. 

And the last- one whocarried any rolls was whom? 

Defendant Frankel. 

And do you notice what rolls he carri ed? A When do .you 

mean he. darned? 

At that time? A " He carried three bundles. 

w Officer, as a matter of fact did you arrestt him a 

219 Wooster .-S . did you arrest him there or on Cab corner of 

West Third St. and Broadway? •A 

Q Is there anybody else around, or was there anybody else - 

around except you and Officer Boladd? A Oh yes, yes, sir. 

Q And the traffic man I have heard something 'about a 

traffic officers, who was he? A A mounted man on that 

believe he was on duty in that street. 

You don't know his n No; air. 

You did not ask his 'aid at all? A No, sir, outside o 

asking his aid by taking the "wagon to the station houses which 

contained the rolls of goods. 

Officef, In your notebook. you u down his name an 

1:4-recinct didyou not. A No, sir.. 

Was not he a witness to any .of these hinge?. A 

BY THE OOVRT: 

What became of the wagon,Officer? - The 'wagon Wik8 



•  eturned to :the .owner, Your gonar.. 

MI6 _ivea. -that? A William Petermil 29 Willard St. 
BY 1171-. w 

Now won't you tell, when you left the -Officer, tell us 

briefly or rather the. station house, -Officer, justwhat-you did? 

A • At  .the EitatiOn house. 

when :you left. the station- house? A I left the 

station house 

Q. Were yOu alone or with anybody? A .X was. alone yes s. r 

Q, Whe di d.srou g:o. A went directly south on Mercer 

Third .St., west on Third St. to Wooster St., South on Wooste., 

St o. thetele ses 219 Wooster St. 

Did -you go rit to .219? 

Q And when you got to .219 Which is the scene. of the A Of 

the. crime. 

Of the alleged crime, did you see anybody? A -I. did. 

.Who An officer standing . outside. 

Who was he9 A He. was. •connected with the precinct-

-Then there was an  officer : there connected with that.. 

..precfinct. A Outside. 

Outside .of ..this Store... A. Sure: 

• Q, Where were tie this -before •o.rafter the .defendant 

were arrested A Oh after they were -arrested. 

,Q I asked you When you first went out of the -station house 

out of the police station, before the defendants were arrested,. 

where di (-3 you go A Oh I beg your pardon. I went south on 

Mercer St. to necker St., west on Bleecker St. to Wooster St., 



north on the east side of Wooster St. and in front of 

was n the store and beckoned- to me bp a knock at the window an 

T went in the store. 

Did you know that Officer Boland was going t o be in 

that store? 

Q What cad you do after you saw him beckoning to you 

after he knocked on on the window? A Went inside. 

Then what did you do? A Watched  the premises,. Officer 

-.Boland was watching it, doing the same thing. 

Before you had a conversation 4th Officer. Boland you 

that you saw three men 

is. that -correct o.r not? 

' Did you ever see three men? 

Well when you fi ret looked 

al on g whi le you were standing the 

at 219 Wooster,'what if anything did you see in connection with 

these defendants 

Nobody around? 

Well what- was the ft ret time you sew one of the defendants 

saw-about four minutes later I saw Defendant TPrankel coming, 

down on the along south on Wooster St., the west side. 

And :was he alone or/in company with anYbod 

air, he was alone 

was alone? A Yesb/sir. 



What did he do when he came a3.ong? A He atood tiler 

there was a large, big double truck standing in front of the 

premises 219 Wooster St. 

He stood there and you two stood there, what happened 

then? A He grabbed .hold .of the lines, took holdat the lines 

and pulled the pair of horses south about 20 or 25 feet on 

Wooster St., that, is just below 219. 

ct Now was there anybody in the wagon at that time. A No 

r, nobody in the wagon. 

Did you see anybody in the wagon at any time? A I d 

Anybody come out when he took hold of the horses and 

pulled them south? 

Q And say anything to hi s r.-

Nobodyobjected? A No, sir. 

What was the next thing he did? A I saw Defendant 

Rosner Come *min With a closed red wagon, one •liorse a.ttached, o 

:a red W4gor1=' 

Arid where were you all  this  time? A I just was n the 

elevator shaft or rather in the door, that was a 'sort ,of a,bateliwa. 

Of what? A Qt premises 216 and 210 Wooster .St. 

Where was Officer Boland? A /He Was in the stO.ie •X 



Yotk had. no comtunicati on with hi& A .30, sir. 

What was the first thing that you did .next? How did 

you get out of the store? A Ran across, the door was dpen, 

.leading to the hatchway. 

Q You went all alone? A I went out that way,. yes, sir 

You la ad no c cmmunicati on with 3Olarid? A No, sir: 

Do you know what he di went out too. 

Do you know that? A He .went out through the same 

door, I know-: 

Q Well f You had no ccipmunication with him bow do you 

know that he went out the same door? A He stood Outside of 

the door of that hatchway, that doorway leading into 216 and  218, 

out on the street it is and Offiqe_r_aioland looked to see me there 

and then we .went across. 

You suppose be saw you there? A Yes. 

CZ, Did you beckon to him to go out or say anything to hS 

421 sir. 

At any rate be went across Over thexe?. 

Q Was tere anybody In the wagon' Which viagOn, the wagon  

n question?, 

The Wagon that you . say you found these goods. in A Yes. 

Who was in the wagon' A Defendant Rosner.-

erstocid you to iiky that you saw Frankel come out with 

hree p eqes of goods on his shoulder. A Yea, sir. 

Officer d n t,you know that is one of the pi aces, 
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would not positiirsly alma; that it was. 

Q Well don't you knoW•that Officer. Boland says that this is 

one of the pieces of goods? A He probably did. 

Q You did not pay any attention? A Why be had three 

bundles there, and he practically threw them at me when I came -up 

to him. 

.Whom? A Defendant Frallke 

Q What di d you do wi th them when he dropped them" A The 

dropped to the sidewalk and I grabbed 'hold of Frankel. 

Q Right there in front of 219? A Yes,sir, immediately 

in °Trout of these p /erases . 

question about that at all? A Not at all, o, s r 

RE DIRECT EXA1CNATION BY MR. 11.ARECEWI 

Officer, the ,goods were taken to the station • house, were 

they? A Yes,sir. 

leer St. Station house? A Yes, air. 

The ent ire fifteen pieces of goods.? 0 A Yes, sir. 

RE CROSS EXAMINATION BY DMENDANT RO 

- Q When the  telephone came dovin to the police station that 

the stole was being robbed, you and Boland wept off to the .pl.sce, 

did you 'not' A Yes, sir. 

• When you came : up there you: di ch t see anybody b ieaking 

into the store, did you" A sir. 

All you seen was me coming along with the Wagon and going 

inside and bringing out the goods? A That is all. 

When you placed me undii arres hat did I Say Y0 



Well when we were placed under arrest, you asked me whose 

wagon it was, isn t "that. so? I asked you that? 

Yea. A NotI. 

didn't tell you where I was  eking. the goods to' 

Q I di •en't tell you who hired m You told me abou 

n unknown man heard something about an unknown man. 

I didn't tell ou where the goods were going . A 

Or at least where this men told me to take the goodie 

sir. 

What did you do, kake up a story right between you two, 

and talk it ove r wha o say? A Not at all not at all. 

Q Now isn't i t a fact, t st when you brought me into the store 

after placing me under _arrest, you asked Me whose wagon it was and 

I told you it was my wagon? A Nothing of the sort. 

I di ch t tell y'ou where the goods were  going t A No. 

You didn't see any man around at all?A No, sir. 

Outside of Me and Frankel'?A No, sir. 

DEIIIMMANT FRA1KEL I wish to cross examine 

THE COURT: You can no t do it. It I a an Unheard of thing. 

If a man has a lawyer he must oros's examine for him. Now sit down. 

If yow want your ,laNyer to ask any questions tell him what you w 

and he will., ask it. 
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Where did you say you  fi 1St, paw 7rillirel and wbat was 

Jie doing at the time you first saw hi saw him go in 

the premises 219 Wooster St. frau the sidewalk, 

Before Frankel as you say, went Into :the premises  

did 30U see him do anything at all? Yes, sir.. 

Q What?. saw him draw this wagon, along, take .hold -

of the reins and draw the wagon along. 

-Before th Et did .you see him do anything' A No, sir. 

Di d you  see Frankel I have asked you I think before 

n company w th.anybody else'- A No, sir. 

Before that? sir.. 

And was the first thing you saw him do, was to take hold 

of tiv wagon without any driver'? A Yes, sir. 

Q And pull the horses n which direction? A South on 

Wooster St. 

-Nobody On the Wagon? A .-Nobody on the wagon. 

Tust tell: s what he did after. that? A He tobk hold 

of the reins of these two horses rather the one horse- nearest 

the sidewalk he pulled the horse south, rather he took the 

reins of the horse and walked. south; and he then waited, paused-

probably, stood there for about a half .a minute I skould judge Until 

-tkiis red wagon drew up in: front of the mmises•No. 219 Wooater 

St., and then he went into the store 219 and then started to 

carry out the goods. 

And did you see anybdy else at that time in that vicinity? 



he defen cnt wants to know where you were watchin .fro 

t that ti 

THE! COURT: He has already stated 218 Wooster St. on the 

ground floor. 

On the ground floor Your Honor, yes, sir, on the .street floor. 

Q, Ian t.'it ,a fact that the officer who was .mounteelf, arrested 

put this man under arrest in a hallway at or near lifeat Third St* 

and  West Broadway? A No, sir. 

What is the name of that officer? A Idntknow the 

nape of that officer. 

DOn t you .know h* I don't know him, n 

Don't you even know what precinct he was connected with? 

A. No, sir. 

Or where he was on post? A No, sir. 

You are in that vicinity all the time, aren't y A Yes. 

Working. there? A Yes. 

rcir how many years? A Six years not quite. 

Did you ever see the mounted officer.befo A IdidLnót. 6 

You he seen hundreds of other mounted officers,haven't 

Never have noticed any of them!, 

Q Di d you eve r have any business with any one before in 

regard to a case or inconnection with a cape? o sir. 

This is the first mounted off4Cer'yolnevet talked t 

Yes, air.  

And yet you do not know 4rything e.baut him or,whera to find: 



horse's harness? N 

Q Nor the saddle? A No,Sir. 

A Would you know how to find that officer if you wanted o 

sir. 

And yet he assisted in this arrest, didn't he? A Yes. 

SAMUXL RATN, Recalled on behalf of the People. 

NATION BY MR. MARKEWICR: 

Now did you buy mrchandiSe of the kind marked People's 

Exhibit 1? A Yea. 

And buy lb rge quantities of that? A Yes, sir. 

Are you familiar. with the market value, o r t1 reasonable 

value of me rbhandise of that quality? A Yes, s r. -

And kind? A Yes, Sir. 

the firstsik day of December 1917. A Yes. 

Did you see the fifteen pieces of goods in the station 

use on Mercer St .A Yes, air. 

On the 1st or December, 1917? A Yes, sir. 

Q. Are you able to state with .a reastnable .degree of certainty 

what the reasonable market -value or tle goods were on that. date? 

The whole amount.? 

es Well. I judge .it*was: about 300 not ...ex04 t3; 

About 350 bout $350. 



BY Vat COM: 

You swear positively it was more than $50.? A Y 

. over three hundred. 

MOSS VAMINATIpE BY MR WARE: 

Have you seen the property there in the Police Station? 

Yes the police station. 

You are the gentleman that testified first? A - Yea ,sir. 

And have you seen it .stnce You saw it in the police 

station... A 'Yes., I took it out of the :Police Headquarters. 

-What is the value of this property a, yard? A There: 

different grades. This is about .a 60 cent a yard value. 

.Q, Do you kriwi how many yards,••are there in this, or these 

goods? A This piece must be about 55 or 60 yards, approximately. 

.That would make it about valued at about $30 that' 

right, for 60 'yards? Fro 60 yards abajt $30. 

And all the other bun dies,.did they run differently? 

Yes. 

• Q . Cheaper? A .Smaller yardage on some, of them some were 

'183rigr4s and some 20 yards and. so forth. 

(4, This  lathe, most important roll Ththe 1ot9 here 

was different ones in the Police Station; there was one .worth about 

4l .6O a yard of whiCh he had two p wee, one was stolen and one 

3.eit tn the store, 

MR..MARICEW1C1: That is the People's case Your B'onOr• 

THE C I understand.Srou don't want to go into the defen 



four o'clock now and I think we will 

•acijow 

Gentlemen, not fora or express any opinion as 

to theguilt or inriodence of iksse defeniltnts until the case 

is finally Bubkitted. Please - do not discuss the case among 

yourselves, or permit anybody to discuss it with 



and Unlit 'ROOM  

iew York, Tuesday, March 5 1918. 

CON-TINUED. 

r. Ware opens the case to the jury on behalf of 

the defendants.) 

NETTIE R 0 S N F B, called as a'witness on behalf 

.Of the defendants, being first duly sworn, testified 

as f ollowe: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY _MR. WARE: 

41 Where do you live" A 24 Marigen Street. 

Q Mrs. Rosner, you are the wife of the defendant Rosner 

sitting at this table? A Yee ,sir. 

.Q And how long have you been married?A Three years. 

And .how many children have y 

Q Now, o you .know what your husband does for a living? 

I• will allow her 

Q Just state Whet your httsband doeS., if you knoW? 

peddles with junk. 

Q -A little louder, Please. A He peddles with 

BY THF COUR 



He has a home and  wagon? A eslitir. 

And do you know where he keeps them or where .,lie.gets 

you know where he keeps the horse an 

the •horEse? A 

Q And you know that he peddles junk? 

Q And supports you jir that way? 

Q Is that right? 

MR. WARE: That is all. 
MR, MARKEWICH: No questions. 

Q Have you ever seen your husband's wagon 

Q What kind at a wagon is it? A An open wag 

MARK2WICH: .A closed box Wagon, 

TF COURT: It had some decorations, tb,i 



one of the defenden ts herein, 

called as a witness in his own behalf, being 

testifiedduly sworn,  as follows: 

DIASCT liXAMINATION BY B. WARE: 

Where do you live? A 833 East One Hundred and Sixt$-

. seventh Street. 

Q What is your occupation? A I em a. feather deal 

'going around the poultry markets buying up chicken feathers, 

importer and exporter in that 

Q How long have you been engaged in that business' 

have been engaged in that business practically for the last 

twelve  years, with my father. 

your place of business? 

Q •Tell the jury what that was? was arrested before, 

because I had some. trouble with a stepmother of mine; my mothei 

died and my father got remarried. 

MB. JEARKEWICH: I obi ect to that 



Q intat,,were you convicted of? A 

ot Elmira Reformatory. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q What year was that? A 1915. 

Q In what court. A Court of General Sessions, 

Q Do you remember the judge? A- Judge Grain, your Honor. 

BY MR. WARR: 

Q That is your only  conviction, 

I don't know, 

sure about that Yes sir. Your Honor, 

beforeI proceed any further with thiit,I have a few words to 

HE COURT: Now, answer questions like any other 

• witness on the stand. This is a trial at law• We are 

not 'here to make speeches. 

THE WITNS: There is sane point I have to say 

which • don t think my lawyer can bring out, in reference 

to my lawyer. 

Q Do you want to state any point in connection with 

Rot in that connection 

Honor, I furthermore wish to 'state - 

THE COURT: Answer questions. 

MR.WARJ will ask, you questions. If your110nor pZea.es, 

the Sixth Juror, I believe, desires to a, some question. 

TEE SIXTH last. vented .the *answer, rePeated 

o/."•the last question. 



(Record read by stenogtalPheW. 

Is there anything further that you went to say in con-

nection with the conviction and the Elmira Reformatory sentence? 

If there i, I believe his Honor will let. you state it After-

. You get through with that, I will ask you something else • 

A I have .something to say in reference tothe whole case,. 

n 

Q I wiLL ask you all about that. Now, state to this 

Judge and jury just how you -happened to be arrested in con-

nection with the case now on trial, the time you were ar-

rested; and anything further In connection with that arres 

or that alleged, burglary, that you desire to tell. Begin at 

the beginning?. A On Dec ember 1st, at 2 while passing 

.West Third Street, West. Third Street and Wooster, I was at-

tacked by two officers -? by one officer and two citizens. 

They started beating -me up something dreadful and I didn't 

know what happened. One of them drew- a gun on me and the other 

fellow 'drew a blackjack and struCk me with it, arid I didn't 

knoiv what it Was, and I walked away a couple of steps, and I 

/walked up to a hallway, and I covered. up I fell down on 

the floor, because. I am suffering from heart trouble, and 

I get a heart attack, and I fell down on the floor.( I was half. 

:uric onscious, and the officer come over ,bnd kicked me. Then. 

an ofticer on horseback come up and says, He is the fellow 

want and he started beating me up. He said, Where. is the 
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other,fe3.1ow?" I said, "What do: you Want. I don't know What 

happened*. He'OeYet "You know what happened. Where did the 

other fellows go?" I said, don't knbw them. I am supposed 

to meet some_p"arty Up here." He said, will, show you what I 

will. do You will tell me pretty .fast what Jhappened"; so we 

walked back to Some store on •Wooster Street as the officer 

stated, 'art, or what the number Was I don't-  eact1y recollect. 

BY THF OMB : 

• Q There was i t you were knocked do A I was knocked' 

down on -Wooster .neat Third Street,between Wooster; I bell: evei 

and Welat Broadway. 

Q And what officers knocked you down? A It was Officer-

I don' t erac tly rememb er his name. T)3.e young fellow. 

Q The two that were -here? A N6 sir, it was the young 

fellow there,_ Officer Rudy Is his first name;, I don't know his 

second name,And he -hauled off and struck ,me,  and an Officer 

• came on horseback. He said, u have got. the fellow half dead. 

will kill hi before he is done and he pulled a revolver 

and put it down my throat. I said, "If you want tcill m 

kill. me. I informed them I am suffering from tuberculosis 

and heart trouble  and I don't know nothing. He 'pulled me back 

n the store, •d that is where I. notipid Rosener,, and he said; 

"Is he with you?" I said, he with Me What? I don't know 

what i s the matter",d they started beating us, and then they 

laced under arrest and took us to the police station. When we 

come to the police station we were locked up there, and I 



found out that we Were to, be trked for the same .offens.e, and . 

didn't know tbis young man until we got in the police Station. 

and untilwe met in the court room. 

Q Now, you go so fast .we can't understand what you are 

saying. Talk slowly. When you got to 219 Wooster Street, you 

say Rosner was there. A Yes s r. 

Was he in pustod,y? he was in custody. 

, Q Who had him. A The other officer, Officei 

-Q Go on. A Then they drew out their blackjacks, an 

started hitting us and beating us. Up Aagain. So then they: 

placed us under arrest. -Then when,we were in the policesta-

tion, the tieutenant told the two officers, he says What do 

you want. to d Do you want to kill the fellows? Cut it out. 

You aint going to hit any _man_ in front of me They picked u 

.a roll' of the woolens and they hit us with it there. 

Q You say you never.knew Rosner before? A. No s r. 

Q He i.e a stranger to you? 

BY MR. "WARE: 

eels 

Now, Frankel you are accused, n company with the 

'other defendant, Rosner, of going in and out of the premises 

219 Wooster Street carrying packages or bales of cloth which 

You saw -displayed here yesterday, and loading them, in company 

with lipsner, into -a wagon which he had been driving. It that 

tr,jae, or not?: A It is untrue. 

Q• Did you have anything, to do vdth breaking open the 

premises 29: Wooster Street on December let, or at any other 
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time prior to that? A ftte 

And did you know Rosner before you were arrested?  A N 

Q Had you ever been connected with him in any way? A No: 

Q Had you any engagement with .him to have his wagon driven 

to 219 Wooster Street? A No, sir. 

Q And where were you actually arrested, A I was ar-

rested on a hallway stoop on West Third Street, near ,West Broad-

wa . 
-

About how far ay a that from 219 Wooster Street? 

It is about s. block and a half away, pretty near a block an 

a half away'. 

Q You heard the officers testify' that they were in 218. 

and. 220 Woost4cStreet,right opposite. 219 Wooster street, 

observed 'you coming toward 219 Wooster Street one of themt 

Officer Boland, saying, that he  saw you in company with two 

other men one .of whom wore a Soft hat, a Velour hat. Is that 

true, or not? A It i.s. untrue. 

Q An both officers said that they saw you carrying these 

bales of woolens out of that store on your shoulder and putting 

them in the wagon. Is that true, or false. A Untrue, it  is 

false. 

Q Now, is there anything else in connection with this 

alleged bUrglary that you wish to say9 I would /like to be, al-

lowed a little latitude, if your Honor. Pleases, so as to en-

tirely satisfy my client. 

TO COURT: Well, have You told Als. all about it? 

0 
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Yes,sir, I told prettk near all about 

Tell anything else in Connection with it that you 

want to. A The only thing I have got to say, that the way 

it seems to tie that I have been a victim of a frame-up here, 

happened to be passing by there, I happened to ,have an appoint 

merit to meet a certain pasty at• that particular place there a 

2 and While passing there, as I. stated yestex'clay, tlua 

officer Rudy didn't place me under, arrest, t was a uniformed 

man. I went down. last night and inquired .off the lieutenan. 

at the Sixteenth Precinct, I asked them to give me this officer 

name and nuMber, desired to have him subpoenaed here in 

court- to testify that he first placed me under arrest in the 

hallway there, then that the second officer came over and start-

ed beating me up. The lieutenant instructed Me, he says 

should: be there this morning, and I. could get that information 

off Officer Rudy. Officer . Rudy was asked that information, and 

he refused to give it. 

Qs Who is Officer Rudy? 

THE COURT: Be means Rudolph Hoerr, 

- A • *Rudolph Hoerr, and he refused to give me that .information 

here in court, and he refused to let me find out who this 

offiver was wanted to bring him here, .o testify I was there,., 

wanted to . bring witnesses, and  while I wonted to take 

witness he. went to work and took his hand and hit me. 

4. When di d 0 114P9eit? A Right at the tiMe of the 

Wins 

Yu-
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arrest, 

• ie there an thing further you want to say now? A The 

only thing further I have to say, your Honor, and gentlemen 

*of the .inrYt hat owing to the fact that I am in a very bad 

• financial ,condition I couldn't afford to get- a lawyer tq de-

fend me, and, therefore, I have been .assigned a lawyer by he 

Court; and there have been several points brought out here which 

.1 believe ought to prove my innocence, and I can prove my 

innocence, because I think this was a real frame-up, which I 

can't see on. my part,because I had absolutely nothing to *do 

with this case whatsoever. I happened to be standing :there, 

because / had this appointment, d they. come over and placed 

Me under arrest. I can also prove where these officers, at 

the time When I was brought in the police station, had some 

fellow come over to me which I believe he claimed he was - he 

is the proprietor of this woolen place across the street,where 

the officers were stationed. He came over end woke to me; 

.he -sai,d, "I think I know you from .somewhere", I sys,"Yes?", 

he says o. me "I think I do ' so he Bay s to me, "Listen' 11 

Q What officer wag; it? A It was not an officer; it was 

a citizen; he as in company with two officers. He come over 

o me and says "I, will tell you what I will -do with you". This 

was, after we were placed under arrest and everything. "If you 

got a little money, money will do the trick, d if we want 

to make an appointment where he can meet me; and he sYs,. II 
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1411 tell you Whatvi will do; if you will,  come down and gee me • 

with a little money / can do the trick and you don't have 

to 'worry, 1- but owing to the fact. I 'haven't got. no money that

is only reason they held me. II had two or three hundred 

dollars to put up, or if my father would be willing to advance 

wouldn't have to come here to court this morning and stand 

trial. That is all I have to say, and  I hope you gentlemen will 

give me 's. fair chance_an a fair trial. 

BY THE .FORgMAN OF THE ITJBY.: 

.Q In what way are you connected. .wi0h your father in 

business I g out Fridays and: Mondays and  during the 

week I go around 'the poultry markets, buying 'chicken feathers. 

Q , Do you draw any salary? A No, sir. 

Q No salary at all? 

the weight of the feathers. 

No sir, .he pays me •'according 

.Q- What amount do 'you -get, approximately, weekly? A Ap-

proximately, weekly, some weeks I make twelve dollars, some 

fifteen some twenty, and some twenty-five. 

• SY THE $EVENTH ;TUROB: 

Q, Was it true What the policeman said on the stand 

there abut the, jimmy, that you told him it was behind .the. 

counter? A No '8 r; it was absolutely false. I further 

wish to tell you gentlemen of the Jury, that the officers at-

first

 

• stated you can very plainly :see .where this :,wag a frame-
/ 

u at first they stated Officer Boland stated that he ,acci 
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'dentall7 happened to pass by the premises, and he noticed' 

where there wag a big piece chipped out of the door, and then 

he deliberately turns around and says that they received a tele-

phone message in the police station and then he states that 

this Officer Rudy happened to be passing by, and he knocked on 

the window. Officer Rudy, owing to the fact that they did no 

hear the testimony of _one another, states that he was in the 

latch way across, the sfieet, and he couldn't very plainly see 

what we were doing or what we were carrying out, and he further 

states that he arrested me, he placed me under arrest, while 

coming out of the store with three. rolls of woolens on my 

shoulder, and that I struck him with it; and I can further 

prove that I don t think I can as far as carrying three rolls 

of woolens, I don't think I can carry two,even; and, secondly, 

I WaSn't anywhere near these premises. 

Third Street and if the officer was - 

MR. MARK.F.WICH: If your. Honor pleases, I am not 

objecting 

THE _COURT: It. is all argument you are 'making. 

MR. MAME:WICK; I at not objecting to it, because be 

wants to be his own lawyer, and let him argue at the same 

,tiMe he is. testifying. Of course, that is subject to your 

Honor's. 

Re arrested me on West 

HE -COURT: Cross-examine. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. VARKEWICE: 

You say you were convicted of grand larceny? A Yes. 
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Is that the only .conviction against you A That is the 

only conviction I was sentenced for. 

Q Tell us of the convictions on which you were no 

• sentenced? A Por grand larceny. 

Q And what other c onvie-tiotar di d you have besides the 

one for which you were -sent to the Elmira Reformatory? A I 

had one for fraudeli ty of employment. 

Fraudelity of employment? A Yee sir. 

Q, What is that? A I obtained .employment under my . 

mother's maiden name and then under my my mother's name 

was Schnapps, .and I obtained the employment under the -name o 

Alfred Schnapps, with the telegraph company. 

Q You were not tried for that crime? A I was tried in 

Special Sessions. 

Q And that i s the best you know about the crime? A Sen-

tence was suspended yes, sir. 

Q Anything else that you were convicted of9 A I was con-

victed - I the  only thing I ever was convicted of was this 

charge of fraudelity of employment, Special Sessions Court, 

where I was found guilty, but on the other occasions is - 

Q Just tell us how many times you were  c alvicted, and 

in what courts? Now, you are. here tell the truth, aren't 

u? A Yea sir. 

Row, tell. us about it. A I was arrested 

THE COURT: You Were 110V asked about when you were 

r ested. jUst pay tte ci,.....and answer - the queetlo 



In what cases were kou found guilt 

Only convictions or where you pleaded 

A- I pleaded guilty for grand larceny, in the case of my s 

THE COURT: That is the one you were sent to .Elmira on 

-THE WITNESS: I. was given a suspended Sentence on that. 

THE cpURT:. That is another conviction for grand 

yudge Crain. 

Q In this court, the Court of General Selsions? A -Yes Si 

When Was that? A That was in 193.5. 

BY THE COURT: 

Was that the time you were sent 

arraigned on the second 

was sentenced to Elmira, back I received that 

suspended setenee of Judge 

BY ME. MAREWICH: 

BY THE COVET: 

Q, Did you plead guilty to the second one, where you g 

a susp encied sentence from 

when I Was released from Elni,i,ra Reformatory., 

You were up before Xudge. Crain for grani1.1sXcA 

and he gave a suspended sentence? 

Then you were arrested charged With another -grand lar-



Q And: so Judge Crain then revoked his suspension in 

sent you 

Q. 

Jamira on your first conviction? A Yet:glair. 

Then you pleaded guilty to the second grand larceny 

before Judge Wadhams Yes, sir. 

• Q And because you had served in almira he suspended 

sentence; is that it. A Yes s r. 

BY R. MARIMICH: 

11, Tell us about the other comi-ictions. 

onvic ti on was for fra. ude/i ty of empioymet. 

Anything else? A That is all. 

Q Were you ever convicted in the Police Courtof die-

orderly conduct' A /To r, never. 

Q By b„e way, the conviction that you told us about on 

which you were sent to Elmira Reformatory, that related to a 

larceny of goods on a truck didn't it? • A Aolsir. 

Q You never knew these officers before, did you, before 

you were arrested by them? A No, sir. 

Q Never had any quarrel with them? A Never had no 

personal dealings with them. 

Q You say y ukmilew Officer Hoerr by the name of Rudy 

A That is what I heard them call him. 

Q And who was that friend with whom you had en appoint-

ment on Wooster Street or on Third- Street, n the 1st of 

December 1917?. 

there. 

A The other 

I had an :aPpOintment with a Y9ling tladY 

Artd- hat le- her net.ril What? 

Writ 



but I wasn't so very intimate with her at that 

Tan -us her name? A Jennie Lazarus. 

BY TER CpURT: 

Q And where were you was supposed to 

meet her on West Broadway, n West Third Street. 

At what time? A Between 1:30 and 2 

BY MR. MAREEWIOR: 

Q You were working for your father at that time, weren 

t work on Saturdays; 

That was on Saturday? 'Ax Tea 

You observe the Sabbath, do you? 

father is closed on Saturday. 
S 

S. 

You started out by telling us that you were busi-

ness with your father? 

That you tre in business? A I am dealing with him. 

What is the name of the firm? A M. Frankel 

Q You are not a member of the firm, are you' A No,eir 

not direct 

What do you mean, not directly? Are you indirectly 

a member of the f aint a direct member of the 

but anytlutte I want something I go over and I get it 

Off my father. 

.whether you. earn any money or -not, your 

vas: ..3,t • t.or....fott? A if I tteeit.moneY I go 
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o bailed. you out. -father did. 

Q • Two thousand .dollars cash put up With' the surety 

compaiy as security? A He signed the security, making good 

for me. He didn't-  put up you know, he siened an affidavit, 

if I go _away he will pay the two thousand dollars. 

That is, if you didn't show up, he would pay the two 

thousand. A If I wouldn't show u 

Q And you didn't have any money to pay couneel? A No, sir. 

Q, You said -you earned twelve to fifteen' dollars a week. 

You have no 'wife to support,have you? A .Nols 

And you did engage •counsel; as a matter of fact, 

didn't you. A Yes, sir, I had Sol Ei sler engaged. 

Q Sol Eisler?.- A • -Yes , s r. 

Q Let us get back to your conviction. You were tried 

for .the crime that you call dishonest person fraudulent 

employment, in Jersey City, weren't you? A _Novsir. 

Wasn't that where the case was tried A No sir. 

..Q, Wasn't that where you were convicted? A No, sir. 

CI • Were you ever convicted in Jersey? A No s r. 

Q Do you rememb-er being convicted before Judge Crain on . 

the 9th of -August, 1915? A .1 pleaded guilty. 
/ 

You pleaded guilty to it'? A• yes, sir. 

Wasn't thayt for assault- and robbery? A No s 

it was for gran 5i larceny.. That was a ease rkere my step-

mother bad me air e-e,t ed.. 



That WO.15 the case Where sentence was suspended? A YO. 

Then on the 28th of April, 1916, You were c niricted 

before what 3:udge? A What date was that? 

Q On the 28th of April 1916, before what Judge were you 

convicted then? A I don't exactly recollect no dates. 

Q Wasn't that the time you were sent to Elmira Reformer-

tor April,1916? 

Q Didn't you go at that time under the name—of-Joe Meyers 

A Yes s r. 

Q You  didn'ttell us about the time you were sent to the 

Elmira Reformatory under the name of Joe Meyers? •A I was sent 

to Elmira Reformatory under the name of Alfred Frankel. 

Q When were you convicted under the name of Joe Meyers? 

A When  I pleaded guilty before Judge Wadhams when I received 

the suspended sentence. 

Q On the 20th of July, 1917, were you again convicted in 

this court? A. July? 

Yes, 1917, last year' A No,eir. 

Wasn't sentence- suspended on you at that time -A No. 

Q Sure of that? k Yes sir, the only time I-, rec eived 

suspended sentence was when Iwas released from Elmira Reforma-

or 

Q On the 10th. of Au-gust, 1917 were -you returned 

Mira, Reformatory? A X°, sir. 

When did you come out of Elmira Reformator 

1011'1 June 20th 

A Zune, 



And you•have been out ever since? Yes, sir. 

Ad you were not in any trouble since that time? 

was. in that arrest - 

4_ Well, never mind arrests. You were not convicted'of an, 

ciime? A No,sir, I was convicted for that frau.delity of 

employment, 

But since then? 

Q And it was in this building, 

Now, did you meet the girl on West Broadway near Third 

were just standing quietly 

Q And an ,offic er and this man came up and without any 

reason started to beat you? A He started to beat, me. 

And then a mounted officer came, and he joined 

A When the mounted office came when he bit me I fell down, 

and then the mounted officer come over. 

Q Did he hit you? 

the trouble. 

Q And after this stranger had beaten you then h 

u away around intd, 219 Wooster Street? A 



1:16 you know wIy he 4.4 it? .A No,elr. 

Haven't any idea wby A No sir. 

. BY. MR: MARIEBWICH: 

Q And you say you .are afflicted With tuberculosis'. 

Yes s r. 

What are you being treated for on your ,hand? A What? 

Q What are you being treated for on your hand, A I have 

been - 

Now, tell 'la's the truth about it. That is a gunshot 

wound,isn't  it? A Yes sir 

Who shot yThree weeks ago passed Delancey 

Street, going- over to my father's house, and I was held u 

by somebody, and they took off me thirty dollars and a gold 

watch and. chain, he had his revolired, up and I 'grabbed for the 

revolver, and Ig t shot through my hand. 

Q That,is how you Were shot. A Yea, sir. 

Q Did you-make.c mplaint to the Police .Department? A Yee, 

4 Do you know who is the one that shot you9 A No sir, 

,4 A friend of yours wasn't it? A Not that -I know of. 

Q What do you mean not that you know Of? A If it 

_Was a friend Of mine I Would have known him 

Who was the police officer to. who. u complained abou 

the  hold-up', A Officer .11a.gkine and. Officer *Kenna, from. 

Police Headquarters, 'First ,Branch Detective Bureau.. 

4, And you gave them a description of the man? A' Yes, r. 

Did you ever meet Officer Boland until the 1st of 

WO. 
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Dectentb Or 191??. A No Mir. 

Q You say that it is absolutely false that you carried 

any goods out of the premises 219 Wooster Street A Yes s r. - 

Q • That you never.knew Rosner at all? A No,eir. 

Q Never knew him until you were arrested together? 

A 'Until the time of the arrest.. 

Q Were you brought over by Officer Hoerr to premises 21 

Wooster Street? A Yes sir. 

Q. You were taken in the place t,here9 A Yes, sir. 

Q You mean you were taken a block and a half from West 

Broadway near Third Street,where you were standing when you 

were beaten, and taken to 219 Wooster Street?. A Yes, sir. 

Q And .you didn't  know what you were  being taken there 

for? A No sir. 

Q Were you told. about it when you got into the store? 

No, sir. 

Q By the way, when you were assaulted and beaten by the 

officer 02) Wooster and Third Streets - on Third .and West Broad-, 

way,a crowd collected? A Yes sir 

Did .any of the crowd follow that offic er to 219 

Wooster Street? A Yes sir. 

Q You knew that you were being beaten for nothing, and 

that you were being arrested not knowing for what. Did y o 

shout out to .some of the people- there to please give their, 

names? A I wasn't given the chance to. 

Be didn't have his .hand on your mouth, did he  • A Well, 
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W&5 being beaten all the way down. 

Were y ou bleeding anywhere' A$ Yes, sir. 

Where from? A Through my nose; My eye w'as out, and my 

forehead was cut.'  

Q When were you bailed out? A I was bailed out Sunday 

morning* 

Q, That. was when? .How soon after you were arrested? - 

A That was the next morning. 

Q Did you go to a physician to be treated for your eye? 

A lio,air. 

Q, And did you ask that .a surgeon be brought to the s 

tion house to treat y A I was not asked. Rosner was asked. 

Rosner asked for a surgeon to be. treated. 

Q Both 'Rosner and you took the same lawyer? A No, sir. 

• No? Did you tell iheofficer that you didn't know 

Rosn'er', and Ro di dn t know you, at the time of the ar-

rest. A I 'told the officer I don't know nothing about the whole 

thing. 

Q By the way, where was Rosner living? A • I don't know.. 

NOW I know he lives somewhere on Mangen Street. 

Mangen Street, near where? A I do not know. 

• Q 620 Grand  Street, where your father's place Of business 

s away down near the river? A Yes sir, the first building 

on Bast Street, 

Mangen Street is just there.; isn't it, in the, same 

neighborhood, just a block away from Bast- Street, isn't it? 
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No, sir. 

Where is liangen Street? A Bast thenicomes Tompkins 

and then Maggen it is three blocks over. 

angentis two blocks away from the river front? A No, 

sir,Mangen i three blocks from the river front 

g, And you have lived around that vicinity all your life, 

or a goad part of your life? A Yestsir. 

Q And you, don't know Rosner, you never met him until the 

time of the arrest? A Had no occasion to be with him before 

that. 

Q Did you see a wagon ia,,front of 219 Wooster Street when 

the officer brought you over there. A I didn't pay no a 

tenti on to no wagon or nothing. 

.Q Well, did you see Rosner. in the store When you were 

brought in there? A Yes sir. 

Q Did you hear what Rosner had to say? A No, sir. 

Q What did you tell the officer A I just asked them 

what they placed me under arrest for. 

Q And the officers wouldn't tell you? A They. told me 1 

will find .out the reason why. They want I should tell them who 

the other fellows were with me, and 6We don't know what 

kind of fellows and who. I told them to wait d while and they 

will see Whe) I am waixting .for, and the more I spoke. the More 

They  started beating me up, the more I started *leading with 

theta. 

And You didn't find out what you were_arrested f 
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until you actually got to the station house? A Yes, sir. 

Qi And you don't know what- Rosner said to the officer in 

the tore A I was too excited and t0o nervous to know 

what he says! 

litAITECEWICH: That is al . 

13.ENITI 0 S N R, one of the defendants herein, 

called as a witness in his own behalf, being first duly 

sworn, testified as follows: 

DIEM -fiXAMINATION BY MR. WARE: 

Q There do you live? A 24 Mangen Street. 

Now, Rosner, what is. your occ up ati on'? A Junk dealer. 

Q And where do you, keep your wagon or truck or horse, 

or how do you conduct that business"What is that? 

Q How do you conduct that business? A Well ,I go 

-around office buildings buying junk off the engineers. 

Q And you drive a wagon? A Yes sir. 

Q Does that wagon belong to you,or  do you hire it? 

I hire it. 

And who do you hire it from? A Mr. Petkin, 29 

Willett Street. 

Q And how long have you been hiring that wagon? A About 

six months. 

Q And do you get the same wagon every day? A No,sir. 

You get •different wagone on different days? Yea, sir. 

Q On the day you  were arrested where had you .been first, 

ere did You start from, and where did you go to? 
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Started Up on Eighteenth Street between Seventh and Eighth 

avenues, the .Mdnahart Fzpress CompanY; there is a garage there; 

was told to come up there on that day to buy up some junk. 

Q, Did you go up there?•A Y498, sir. 

Q About what time at the day did you get there' A Well 

I got there about twelve o'clock, around that time.. 

Q Did you get any junk there? A No sir. 

Where did you go from there. A From there I went 

down to 55 Bast Eleventh Street another place where the engin-

eer told me to come on that day. 

Q

 

Did you do any business with that 'engineer at that 

A He told me to come in Monday, .he was too busy. 

Thai REM Saturday? Yes, s 

Prom Sb West, or East Eleventh? A Fast. 

Q Prom 55 Bast Eleventh Street, hat did. you do and 

where did you go,and how did you A Going from 55 Past 

Eleventh Street, I went to .University Place and straight down 

as far as llourth Street when I was approached by a man asking 

me If I wanted to do some trucking for him. 

Did you know the man? A No e r. 

It is not this defendant,Frankel? A No s r. 

Q What did you do with the man? A I asked him where 

he had the stuff and where the stuff was go and he 

Vold me the stuff was going down to Rivington and Ch29-eVie 

Streets, and that was on my way down to  fie stable I 

thought I would take it down for him. 

trim 
014 
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Where • di d you go with.hims or did you go alone? A II* 

took Me over o 219 Wooster Street. 

And when you got there what happened,if anything? 

Well when I got there I asked him where it was, and he 

showed me the store. I opened up my tailboard and he pentin- 

to the store. n he went. into the store I Went to work t 

put the feedbag onto the horse, and he come out and brought 

out two pieces of goods, and -then I went in with him, and he 

showedme what goods to take and I come out with two pieces 

and he come out with two pi ec es both together.. 

Q Was that .this defendant,Frankel?. A No ,eir. 

Q Go ahead? A And then my horse, the feedbag fell 

off him and I went to pick the feed bag, to put the feed-

1D-ad onto the, horse, and the first thing I knew after I put 

the feedbag on the horse, going to the wagons and I wanted to 

go on the wagon o straighten the goods -out, being 1t was 

near the tailboard, and I wanted. to put it in there, so we 

can get enough 01c, and the officers come over to me, and he 

held -me up with a revolver, , so- I tried to ask him what was 

the trouble,and he said if I don't shut up he will blow my 

brains out, I didn't have a chaice to say nothing. 

Do you remember another truck or wagon standing in 

_front. f 219 when you drove- up Yes sir. 
1. 

Q. There was one there? A Yes, sir.. 

And di d you do anything in regard ‘.o Lhut? )o, dr. 

When y u `drove up A No sir. 
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Did you lead the horse a few feet to make room for your 

wagon? A Thi s other fellow done that. 

The other fellow? A Yee,eir, 

Now, you have been - I withdraw that, was stated. 

yesterday by both officers who testified that they had seen 

you from across the street walk in and out with bundles of goods 

on your shoulders. You did take some, did you not? A I 

went in there • once. 

Q And di d you notice that. any that the door had been 

broken open, or any lock had been broken'? A No ,sir, he door 

was open when I come there. 

Q You didn't notice anything the matter with that door? 

No, air. 

Q Did you have anything to do with breaking ;that door 

open" A No ,sir. 

ci Did you,on December 1st,or, any day prior thereto, 

break open that door, or commit any burglary, or have any-

thing to do with anybody- else who broke that door open? A No. 

Q. Did you know that any burglary had been committed at 

those premises? A No, s r. 

Q Is there anything further that you wish-  •to say now 

in. regard to this particular alleged bur ary?. A I would 

like to explain bo the Court and the gentlemen of the jury 

how it happened. 

Q Then tell us Whatever you want to say in regard to 

the burglary. A Your Honor, and getttlemen of he jury, 

1401111i 



Was arrested I took My medicine 

-because I was guilty — 

THb COURT: Now, u are not telling us about 

thiii burglary. You are making a speech. 

THE WITNESS: Well, that belongs to the _case, your 

his own attorney. 

THE WITNESS: Well, gentlemen of the jury, this is 

agt peddling with junk. That dy it was 

raining pretty strong and I took out a, top wagon being 

I got an order for the Monahan Express people, to come 

up there and buy some,junk. I took out &. top wagon, 

went up there, and they were busy up there, and they told me 

to come in Monday. I went down to 55 Nast Eleventh 

The engineer in Eleventh Street told me to 

come down the same day. 

MR. MARICERCH: If your Honor please, tht has been 

THE COURT: Yes, he has told us that. If there is 

anything you have t told us, 'tell us, anything that 

have forgotten or that has not been brought out by the 

questions. 

MR. WARE: One other question I deairedo ask 

Is that au? 

THE WITNESS: 



THE coviin Isay, don't tell .tas anything you have 

told us before. 

THF WITNESS:. Ihave to start my story from the 

beginning, your Honor. 

TKE .QOURT No, you have not.. You have told it. 

Your lawyer brought that out very well by the questions. 

We understand that. Now, if there is anything you have 

not told us, tell it. 

THE WITNESS: Well, I say, gentlemen of the jury, 

placedwhen I was  under arrest, his fellow that hired m 

n, or whatever his name is,'come marching along, 

this fellow, and they took me into the store, 

fellow tell youtake that stuff to?" .1 told him, to 

Rivingtson and Christie Streets. He says, "You never seen 

this fellow before? He paid, "It is too 

bad  he gOt. away". Then he 'said tO me, "Were you ever 

arrested before?" he Says to the 

other,officer, "Well, we better hold him, for he has got 

a record. asked me if that was the fellow 

that hired me, ,and I told hi:n no, Then they went Lo 

work - well, he hit -me on the head with blackjack and. 

pret.y near knocked me senseiess but berig nat. I go 



-a. 

A pretty strong s art it didn't have much street on 

outside of making me a little .diazy, and started asking me 

questions, but I don't rememb er what they were, being 1 was a 

little dizzy, but anyway when ,we got into, the house the 1 

tenant asked him how he come to make the arrest and he told 

him that he got a telephone; a telephone come into the house. 

that a burglary was being committed at that address 219 

Wooster Street, and that and 11 dy- went up there..to see 

who was committing the . burglary,and when they got up there 

they seen three men burglarizing or forcing the .door, and 

they wanted to await developments, so he says that the three 

men went away, and they followed them up, b.nd they seen two 

men' go one way and one man go another way, and Boland. aye 

one of the officers, that he seen the M all coming up himself 

approach me while I was coming down with the wagon and say 

something to m /and then i went down the place and start ed-

unloading the truck. He said, "Where is that m 9 w It 0 

13ai d "Re got away on m We said, "It that on ..of the men 

that was with them three men?" He says "Yes". e gays, 

"Thy di. dot you grab the man that hired this fellow and -that. 

was carrying the goods out?"  He says °Well+ ee were only 

two men, and I grabbed. this fellow, and. while the other officer, 
• 

Was.. chasing the other fellow they g t away on me". 

to a Case being that they see I got a record. 

Wt. MARKIIVTCH: 



TE COMIT: Well I will allow him to finish u 

TER WITNESS: That they are just trying to swear 

my life away; that i s all. Why di dn t they catch that 

fellow that hired me? Now they know in their heart. and 

soul that I they followed the fellows upend seen one 

of the fellows like me  but  they wouldn't admit to it. 

They get on the stand and they lie like the dickens, 

can'tand I  tell them they are lying; they aint going 

to-admit - they are lying they are arresting 

are looking for a conviction." How are they going to con-

vict us" They know I  'a record, and the other 

fellow has a record, and they are saying whatever they 

please, end it is all up to you gentlemen of the jury, 

to decide. I am a married man, with a wife and two small 
am 

children. I/married three years, never was in any 

trouble n the time I was married, and it is up to you 

o decide whether I am innocent, or guilty. Don't let 

my record be a prejudice against me  and I further vvi sh 

to state that becalled up the stable woman, one of the 

officers 

BY MR. 

-Q 1oerr, or Boland? t know'which one; one 

Of ther4. I seen Rudy koerr talking to the stable woman, 

he says to the stable woman "How i ,if thi a fell° 

hiring a dump Wagon off you , to.ok --ou 



wagon today 

of.:0Tc".-AvIv4 
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She say t was raining very strong today nd. 

he says he will take p wagon, so he five, "Well, e 

aint got nothing on him, outside he was hired and we can 

get the fellows, so we got to hold hi 

BY MR. WABF: 

You have spoken about a reccird? A Ye,yssir. 

Q Have you been convicted of crime? 

es si

 

,Q More than once? A Yes sir No. Well, yes more 

than once. 

Q Tell this jury just what crimes- you have been con-

victed of, and when tlity happened.? A Well, about seven 

years ago, I was only about fifteen years of age then, I go 

arrested for grand larceny, and was sent up to Fimira. When 

I come out of ' Elmira IT -g9t arr est ed -fox- disorderly conduct. 

Q. Don t tell us about imes you g. t arrested. 

walling you only about such times as you- were convicted or 

pleaded guilty. A Well pleaded guilty that time and 

was sent to Elmira. 

BY VLF CQURT: 

Q What year was that? .A What is that? 

What year. A 1910, I think. 

_Q, Go on. A Coming out of Elmira, I was arrested for 

di sorderly conduct, and taken b tick to Elmira for a violation 

of parole. Coming out of there, I was arrested a few times 

for ohOoting craps, if you want to know that, That is all.. 

- Was arrested another time for grand larceny, .b t it waS 41 



Yoli-were not convicted of any other crime? A 

for small things, I got twenty days for shooting 

and I gflt• thirty days for disorderly 

and r got three months for _petit 

That was in New York 

t has been testified by both the offices that the 

U load these pieces of goods on the truck 

CROSS IXAMINATI ON BY MR. MARKBWICTI: 

4 Well, he officers are telling th truth when they 

say that You went into the store and. carried the goods out 

A Yes, I -think they are telling the truth yes sir I aint 

And- /about. the !wagon being thereand 4.1 that? AY 

That .is all truttiftil? A Yes, sir, they-itre telling 

the truth, truth, y 

4 Do xou.olalin they. are to • swear your life awa 

to :107:0? A WeU, it .p;ioks• that way when the: orriOer 
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  to4,4 him that I was_ offered the I ner-v,er 

mentioned that to him. 

Q You don't suppose A Be didn't even ask me that; 

because he seen the man hire me. That is trying to, swear my. 

life away, when he tells a lie like that, aint it? 

Were you to carry the goods for -nothing? A No, 

was supposed to do a regular trucking job. I was going home 

• Q You were in the junk business; you were not in the 

racking business? A Well, that is all right. Iwas gain 

and it Was on my way home. -

u hired the truck to carry junk?' A I hire the 

hing that can b e carried,on the truck, you carry 

yes, legitimate stuff, sure. 

, of course, when you went to that store 3ou 

was legitimate when the goods were carr 

You hadn't asked this, man whether he owned the plac 

- a man -comes over to me and offers me a job, I ask him where 

the stuff  was. 

Q You saw sign there? A Some name on the window, 

didn't take notice of the 

You saw the name Hain there? A I didn't take no 



Ilotice of the .tame 

Q. You didn't think it was important A No ,sir. 

- You were in trouble before and convicted? A Y 

that is what I -mentioned. 

ct You were very cariful 

trouble again? A Nossir I didn't look to fall into trouble. 

When you saw the strange man and he asked you to take 

' the goods out of the store, your suspicions were not aroused. 

at .all? A He didn't ask me to take the goods out. He just 

asked me what way I was. going, and. I said I was going down to 

the Bast Side. He said "I have a few rolls of goods. Do 

you want to take them down tb Rivington and Chrystie Streets?", 

and I said, d we went over to the place. 

Saturday is a very busy day? A A very. slow day. 

-Around Saturday- morning, around noontime? • A Well, 

aint busy. 

That section is very busy? A I would call it slow; it 

was pretty slow for me, anyway. 

Wooster street has a lot of trucks _on t? A What is 

Wooster, Street has. a 1 t of trucks cin Not sir, 

not at that time; it is pretty dead around there after twelve 

o'clock., anyway. 

Did you notice the condition of the look when you 

entered the store"- A There was no lock on when I rode over 

to the s ore. This fellow. first pulled the wagon. up ,ZL 
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pulled my Wagon in and he went into the store while I. was 

opening,up my Oar • Now, a man walking into a Store. 

and a r is. open, there was nothing to my mind that it was 

wrong. 

Q How many pieces of goods did you have on your truck 

when you were placed under arrest? A I didn't count then. 

You Wouldn't say there weren't fifteen pieces of goodi 

on the truck. A I Nouldn't say. I didn't take notice how 

any Was On. There was about ten or twelve; around that, 

don't remember; I didn't count them. 

Q Where do You live, do you sayo A 24 Mangen- Street. 

Q That is right near where? A It is right near Mangen 

Street. 

-I.e it nearer Grand Street? A Well two blocks away 

m Grand Street. 

Q Mang n Street startsat about Grand Street,doesn't it9 

that is where it starts. 

• Q .24js just on the block between Grand and Broome, e 

Between Broome and Delancey. 

A And you never knew this Frankel before the arrest? 

No,sir. 

Q And you ever saw hi No,eir. 

At all? A No sir. 
nothing 

Q And you suss know of him? A NO, sir. 

9 

Q And  :the •first time you met him was when be Waal brought.. ,-

into your store?. A -Yes r. 

ONISS 
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And you never, knew these officers_ before? 

Yousnever had any quarrel With them at all? 

'Never ran acrots them? A Noisir. 

You eely you were .n the *junk business? 

Q ever since you were married? 

Q How long .are you. in it? A I am in the Junk business.. 

about eight or nine months. 

•Q And hired a truck ,every day from the Place on Mangen-

StreSt? 4 Yes, sir. 

4 What Street? A Willett Street. 

4. Willett Street? A Yea. 

And from wbóm.have you 'been 'buying 

What office buildings? A Any office 

office buildings': have you been buying junk from? 

over, every office building. 

Give me the office buildi 

-You. 'didn't •frcm ti• thOUsand otfici 

ppatOer.-known up there 

pretty well and. a 1t of engineers were 

'What streets? A Every street uptown. 

f the, engineers, ease? 

different names Thalia is quite a number ofthem. 



Hiw many officers came Wirer to you when you were ar. 

Only one, officer came over? A Well, there was a 

uniformed officer there, 

Q When you were first arrested, I am speaking of now. 

When I was first arrested, only Officer Boland. 

Q When this man that hired you saw Boland, did he run 

away? A Well when I was arrested, your Honor, I had my back 

turned, see, and when he says, "Hands up," I turns around and 

seen this fellow that hired me on the corner, and Rudy was 

like about 50 feet away from this fellow that was rurming see? 

Q The first time you saw Officer Hoerr? 

the first time. 

Q Wh.t WS this rnan like? ,A. Who, the man that 

.Q Yes; A" He looked to be an Italian fellow, which 

was a dark complexioned fellow, 'about 

faced around, and I seen the fellow runnir 

The corner was say about twice the distance 

think it waS and I seen Rudy an 



Boland hollered to Rudy, *Catch that son-of-4mbitch, 

Rudy Started to run and about fire minutes later he come 

back with this fellow. 

plied you how far he was behind the man he was 

chasing? .A He was behind him about .twice the distance of this 

.room, about the third or fourth building from the corner. 

THE COURT: That ie all. 

Gentlemen of the jury, please do n t form or 

pInIon as to the defendant's guilt or innocence, 

finally submitted to 
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